
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Thursday, 9 
December 2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Economic Development Strategy (Pages 11 - 40)

6. Kent Design Guide Consultation PRESENTATION 

The consultation is being run online by KCC and is available at 
https://letstalk.kent.gov.uk/kentdesignguide and the Kent Design Guide is 
available at https://kentdg.wpengine.com/ as an interactive website. 

7. Draft Planning Enforcement Strategy (Pages 41 - 80)

https://letstalk.kent.gov.uk/kentdesignguide
https://kentdg.wpengine.com/


8. Corporate Performance Report Q2 (Pages 81 - 92)

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part A of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Part B 

Items likely to be considered in Private 

None. 

Members

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Brian Sangha (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Brian Francis
Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Bob Lane
Emma Morley

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee

Monday, 27 September 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Brian Sangha (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Brian Francis
Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Peter Scollard

Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Simon Hookway
Shazad Ghani

Assistant Director (Communities)
Service Manager (Planning)

Keith Grimley Senior Economic Development Officer
Jackie Denton Customer Services Manager (Minutes)

73. Apologies for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Leslie Hoskins and Cllr Jordan Meade 
attended as his substitute. 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Emma Morley and Cllr Peter Scollard 
attended as her substitute.

74. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

75. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee held on 
Monday, 21 June 2021 were signed by the Chair

76. Planning Enforcement principles 

The Assistant Director (Planning) provided the Committee with a presentation on the basic 
Planning Enforcement principles.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 27.09.2021

2

A successful planning service consists of three components:
 Visionary plan-making which sets out the policies and proposals for the area
 Efficient and effective development management which applies those local and 

national policies in the determination of planning applications
 Well-resourced and effective enforcement

Paragraph 59 of the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 states that effective 
enforcement is important to maintain public confidence in the planning system.

There are a number of Acts that relate to this including the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. We also have to have regard to other legislations and in particular:

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
 Data Protection Act 2018

There are various penalties and a lot of them are fines. We can have Proceeds of Crime 
when you have a Landlord who has a HMO and they are renting it out and they don’t have 
permission but are earning thousands of pounds. You should not earn from something which 
is a crime. And there is also imprisonment.

Effective enforcement is important to tackle breaches of planning control which would 
otherwise have unacceptable impact on the amenity of the area; to maintain the integrity of 
the decision-making process and to help ensure that public acceptance of the decision-
making is maintained.

The Enforcement investigation process has been simplified to consist of 11 steps and these 
can be found in the presentation.

The full presentation can be viewed on the link below:

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=444&MId=4692&Ver=4

Members raised a number of points below and the Assistant Director (Planning) 
responded: 

 Sometimes we have a problem on Step 8 of the process with expediency. Is there a 
definition of what is expedient and what isn’t? Following on from that if you get to 
step 11 why go back to step 8, why not go back to step 9? The Assistant Director 
(Planning) responded that expediency is very much about planning judgement when 
you look at the policies at government level and local level, the likelihood of it being 
granted on appeal and if it is worth going through that process. If you decide it is 
expedient then you might go back and look at different mechanics to deliver that 
outcome. If you got action and it isn’t effective the point of going back is expedient, 
there may be a reason it wasn’t effective in the first place so you have to go back to 
consider if it is expedient to do it that way or look at it another way 

 The Chair advised it is about the definition of harm and whether it is expedient and 
this is where Member input is important

 Guidelines on why something is expedient and why something isn’t expedient to 
proceed with would be helpful. The Chair advised that this will form a document 
which will have those steps in a way to show that

Page 4

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=444&MId=4692&Ver=4


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 27.09.2021

3

 The Assistant Director (Planning) advised that we would like a list of published 
criteria where everyone understands the thought processes, it is transparent and you 
understand and can see how we are judging

 We need to have effective communication. We need to look at how Members are the 
golden thread through the processes of communication and the role of Members in 
dissemination of information through the media and that takes a long time. As 
members we should be able to intervene and say this is where the council currently 
is and in a couple of weeks we can update. The Assistant Director (Planning) 
responded that we haven’t been as strong as we could have been. There has been 
times when we have focused on the mechanics of doing it but sometimes it is in the 
best interests not to have information in the public domain

 A Member asked if it would be possible that if an issue arises in a Ward that the 
Ward Members are informed out of courtesy and there is a point of communication 
for Members. The Assistant Director (Planning) responded that it is something we 
could look at. We may need to have a protocol around confidentiality in that if we 
make it really clear that something needs to be kept confidential then the Member is 
aware. We want trust between all parties in the system as a whole and we need to 
understand what you are happy with and what processes you want

 The Assistant Director (Planning) agreed that Members had articulated how they 
think it needs to be, brief, simple to follow, transparent, with clear language and an 
explanation of terminology

The Chair thanked the Assistant Director (Planning) for the interesting and useful 
presentation. 

77. Overview of Biodiversity Net Gain Metric 3.0 

The Service Manager (Planning) gave a presentation to Committee to explain what 
Biodiversity Net Gain Metric 3.0 is and what our duties are as a Local Authority under the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act.

The Government adopted a 25 Year Environment Plan in 2018 and its overarching goals 
are:

 Cleaner air and water
 Plants and animals which are thriving
 A cleaner, greener country for us all

As a Local Authority we have a duty under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 
Act to show regard for biodiversity in all our actions. This duty is being strengthened through 
the forthcoming Environment Bill with the aim of setting a legally binding target to halt 
species decline by 2030. The Bill introduces a 10% biodiversity net gain requirement for all 
new developments. KCC are in the process of commissioning some work to see whether we 
should achieve 20% biodiversity net gain. The government has done some analysis and in 
their view tasking into account the cost of delivering a higher density, it doesn’t give sufficient 
added benefit.

Net Gain within Gravesham – The Local Plan Core Strategy CS12 (Green infrastructure) 
seeks to ensure that there is no net loss of biodiversity as a result of development. GI6 
(Biodiversity) in the Emerging Local Plan seeks measurable biodiversity net gain which takes 
account of the mitigation hierarchy.

Page 5



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 27.09.2021

4

Biodiversity net gain means a development that leaves biodiversity in a better state than 
before. To achieve net gain a development must have a higher biodiversity unit score after 
completion than the baseline score before development. Net Gain = More Nature.

Some of the wider benefits include workplace productivity, mental health, physical health, 
wellbeing, childhood development, reduced energy costs, cleaner water, property prices, 
tourist and recreational facilities.

There are 10 principles of good practice and guidance which can be seen in the full 
presentation.

The full presentation can be viewed on the link below:

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=444&MId=4692&V
er=4

Members raised a number of points below and the Assistant Director (Planning) and 
the Service Manager (Planning) responded:

 KCC are about to launch their new Kent Design Guide which could be an opportunity 
to include a section on Biodiversity Net Gain as we need a consistency across the 
county. The Assistant Director (Planning) wasn’t sure it will be part of the Guide but is 
something we can raise with KCC. We do have a Service Level Agreement with 
KCC. We do need someone who truly understands the Metric as getting the right 
information to feed in is going to be important. The main guidance will come from 
DEFRA Natural England and that needs to be changed to something we can 
understand

 The Service Manager (Planning) advised that as part of the infrastructure study it will 
identify projects which Members will be able to contribute towards

 The biodiversity would be no further than Kent and hopefully the document will show 
where we want to see these gains

78. Overview of Householder Extensions / Alterations Design Guidance SPD 

This Design Guide is a Supplementary Planning Document to the Gravesham Local Plan. It 
establishes the principles of good design and sets out the components which should be used 
for all developments in terms of layout, the form and scale, the appearance, landscape, 
materials and detailing. 

Members made the following points:
 A copy of the Guide will be on the Gravesham website soon
 It is an excellent document and plainly written
 Members are keen that the document is promoted
 There will be a signature strip on Planning Officer’s emails to highlight that we are 

adopting this Guide
 Members asked that the Guide is promoted via an article in Your Borough

Members agreed the document should be adopted.

Page 6

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=444&MId=4692&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=444&MId=4692&Ver=4


Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 27.09.2021

5

79. Economic Stimulus Package Update 

The Assistant Director (Communities) presented this report to update Committee on 
progress with the Economic Stimulus package which was agreed at Full Council in February 
2021.

The measures within the package are to support business recovery in response to the 
impact of the Coronavirus pandemic. The majority of these measures were to be funded out 
of the £3,088,725 of Additional Restrictions Grant allocated to Gravesham as part of the 
Government’s financial support to businesses. Funding was available for expenditure up to 
the end of March 2021 but that was subsequently extended to 31 July 2021 and if 100% was 
used by that date there would be an additional top-up of £692,120 which was achieved. The 
council has had to distribute in excess of thirteen rounds of covid grants and since the 
beginning of the year has distributed in excess of £12m to local businesses.

We are now directing the £692,120 ‘top up’ from Additional Restrictions Grant to support the 
remaining economic stimulus workstreams, including Adaptation Grants, 1-2-1 support, 
procurement workshops and vacant retail units grant.

The council made a commitment to participate in the Government’s Kickstart Scheme and to 
provide 34 work placements for young people for a period of six months. Within the last few 
weeks we have taken on 15 placements, five within the Operational Services Directorate, 
five within Housing Estate Management and five within the Housing Building Works Team. 
Also looking to roll out others in the offices in the coming weeks. Some placements are more 
work ready than others. We provide wrap around employment support linked with North Kent 
College. We have also appointed an Employability Co-ordinator to progress the scheme and 
match candidates with placements within the council. 

Members raised a number of points and the Service Manager (Communities) and the 
Economic Development Manager responded: 

 It would be useful to get some background on how much we have spent and what the 
outcomes have been so we can understand how effective the funds have been

 Funding to bring vacant retail premises into active use is still to go live plus the 
business start-ups as these have been put on hold until now. We want to focus 
where needs are greatest and where funding can best be used. We know where 
vacant units are and we need to confirm an application process in accordance with 
the Government guidance for Additional Restrictions Grant. We are putting those 
together at the moment. The allocation of £100k is aimed at reducing the vacant units 
which currently stand at 12.5% in the town centre and we are finding the best way to 
achieve that and we can report on that at a later date

 We don’t have feedback on how the previous grants were spent, our role was to 
distribute the grants to businesses who have been impacted by Covid. It may be 
possible to do a short survey to get some feedback

 For the new grants we will have the opportunity to assess specific project 
applications and long-term impact. We put in place checks to ensure they are 
appropriate receivers of the grant in the first place

 Members praised the commitment of the council around apprenticeships and 
participating in the Kickstart Scheme. Back in 2019 the council also signed up to a 
Social Mobility pledge and we need to push that across the borough

Page 7



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 27.09.2021

6

 With reference to the £10k for procurement workshops for local businesses, will they 
be done in person or hybrid delivery and is it something we are planning to deliver in-
house or will we use external expertise?  We would be linking in with someone who 
has expertise in procurement and it will be delivered on-line but we also appreciate 
face to face makes a huge difference as businesses aren’t taking up what is available 
and they need that reassurance and working together

 How do we know what we are getting in terms of bangs for bucks? Before Covid 
started we had estimated that we might lose a number of businesses and in fact our 
rate has been less than we originally anticipated with one of the reasons being the 
council’s ability in getting grants out and outreach work reaching smaller rural 
businesses that might need help

 How confident are you that there are digital hubs/networks that we can tie into to 
provide better links for businesses given changes in work patterns during the 
pandemic? How confident are you that £25k will help you achieve that aim? How do 
we know that Gravesham is the place where small to medium enterprises want to be 
because of where it’s located?
The Assistant Director (Communities) responded that we would look where we can 
make a start to get improvement and get a quick win where there is higher 
broadband capability and the work space that goes with that. We know we have 
space in the town and could put in a certain level of equipment to support businesses 
and once we know what the demand is we can work with that. This is something that 
we have already raised in St George’s particularly with the proximity with the station

 With Furlough ending do you think the vacancy rate will rise from 12.5%?
Normally in the run up to Christmas we see an increase in the take-up of units. It is 
anyone’s guess at the moment. Our main concern is in the St George’s Centre where 
there are a cluster of vacancies and we are seeking to reduce vacancies there. 
Elsewhere we have seen a take-up of vacant units, for example a number of new 
food operators in Queen Street. We know there is more impact from the pandemic to 
come and we are yet to see the full impact on the local economy, especially with the 
end of Furlough and its effect on local employment

 It is very difficult to talk about benefits that have come out of the pandemic but one 
has to be that through the grants schemes we now have the best picture of the local 
business community. How do we plan to utilise that data? Can we use emails to 
invite them to business events? How will that data affect our economic development 
going forward? 
On every application we have tried to sign them up to our business network. The 
message has been that we are trying to build a business network come and join us. 
We have been thinking about what data we have captured. We have added 200 to 
the business network but those who haven’t joined we will invite them to join. We 
have been thinking about using one of our Kickstart placements to trawl through the 
list to create a more sophisticated profile

 Cllr Bob Lane asked if he could be invited to the next Business Network meeting as 
he has years of business experience and that was agreed

Members noted the information in the report.

80. Extract from the Register of Partnerships and Shared Service 

Members noted the information in the report.

Page 8



Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee 27.09.2021

7

81. Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2021-22 

The Assistant Director (Planning) and Assistant Director (Communities) provided the 
Committee with an update against the Performance Management Framework, as introduced 
within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter One 2021-22 (April to June 2021).

The Assistant Director (Communities) responded to Member questions as follows;

PI 32 – Why have we seen a net gain in active businesses of 4.3% in our smaller size 
enterprises in Gravesham given the national trend? 
There has been a trend of smaller independent businesses starting up. In comparison with 
other districts Gravesham has been doing well. We need to look at survival rates and could 
bring that information back to committee. There may be a time lag around some of the data.

Thames Clipper ran four trial services during August. They were fully prescribed and they 
are looking to do some additional runs as they are clearly looking to build the business and 
are overwhelmed with the interest from Gravesham people wanting to use this service.

The Assistant Director (Planning) responded to Member questions as follows;

PI 36 – A Member commented that Major planning applications processed on time is 50% 
for Q1 which seems to be a significant drop whereas Non-Major planning applications are 
holding up at 97%? 
It was only 2 major applications, 1 decided in time. The low numbers give volatility and it is 
down to the Developer whether to agree an extension time. We are keen to maintain high 
performance levels on minor and other applications. We had 254 minor applications of which 
248 were decided in time.

In the past we have lost a number of Planning Officers to the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation and we then went through a stable time but we have had a number of 
resignations in the last couple of months, partly because people don’t want to be Planning 
Officers, some through retirement and others going to other industries. We are talking about 
ways of bringing people in and we are looking at options to do Degree Apprenticeships. Our 
desire would be to get someone leaving school at 18 with A-levels to do a Degree 
Apprenticeship, it is six years. For it to be meaningful they need a lot of engagement from 
Officers who are already busy. 

Members noted the information in the report.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.30 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee

Date: 23 November 2021

Reporting officer: Keith Grimley, Senior Economic Development Officer

Subject: Economy Growth Strategy Consultation 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report the activity undertaken to promote the draft Economic Growth Strategy and 
feedback received from businesses and residents.

Recommendations:
1. Members of the Committee are invited to consider the feedback received and note the 

proposal to continue to engage with external stakeholders as action plans are 
developed.  

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 A draft Economic Growth Strategy was originally prepared in early 2020. With the 
uncertainty associated with Covid19, public consultation was placed on hold and 
has instead taken place between 21 September and 31 October 2021. 

1.2 This report summarises the activity undertaken to promote the consultation and 
aims to provide an overview of the feedback received from businesses, residents 
and other stakeholders. 

2. CONSULTATION ACTIVITY

2.1 Our objective in consulting on the summary Economic Growth Strategy was to 
seek opinion from a broad range of community and business stakeholders; to 
make their input to the finalised strategy document but also to engage their 
longer-term interest in action planning for the seven key themes. 

2.2 Consultation commenced with an ‘in person’ presentation from the Assistant 
Director of Communities, to 40 members of the Gravesham Business Network at 
the 21 September networking event and subsequently via a variety of different 
media channels listed in the table below. 

2.3 Examples of communication materials produced for the promotional campaign, 
are included within Appendix 2. The draft strategy document is available as 
Appendix 3.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



2

2.4 For speed and ease of response, a 10-question survey was hosted online via the 
Council’s survey monkey account. Delegates attending the networking event were 
encouraged to feedback ‘in person’ and there was also the ability to respond by 
email, directly to the economic development team. 

2.5 An offer was also made to present an overview of the strategy to any local 
stakeholder groups that requested one.

Consultation / Feedback Route Frequency

‘In person’ Gravesham Business Network presentation 21 September event

Targeted post-event email to attendees of above Two

Newsletter to all Gravesham Business Network members (446) Three

Press release One

LinkedIn (social media post) – 1,200 views One

Twitter (social media post) – @GraveshamForBiz Multiple (see 
Appendix 2)

Stakeholder email to 35 individuals 

(College, Property Agents, Workspace Providers, Faith Groups, 
EUFC, Greater North Kent Partnership, Business & Youth 
Services)

Two

Your Borough advert One

Federation of Small Businesses weekly update email One

3. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

3.1 In total, twenty-six responses were received from a mixture of businesses, 
residents and a list of stakeholders who were directly contacted. This total 
includes four responses received by email. 

3.2 Summary survey question responses and full individual responses are available 
as background papers.

3.3 Please note that as part of ongoing engagement activity, the online survey will 
remain live for another month, available via the Council’s web site and social 
channels. 

3.4 A summary of responses to the online survey is given in the following table.

Page 12



3

Survey Question

Q1 Do you run a business in 
Gravesham Borough?

27% Business 73% Resident

Q3 In your view, does the draft 
Strategy capture the primary 
influences on the local 
economy?(In preparing the 
strategy, it is accepted that any 
local strategy will be subject to 
wider sectoral & national 
economic influences)

28% Agreed 72% Disagreed

In analysing responses, 
individuals raised specific 
issues or concerns that do 
not contradict the key 
influences but add further 
examples from an 
individual point of view.  

Q4 Do you recognise the 
economic challenges outlined on 
page 08 of the strategy?

90% Agreed 10% Disagreed

Q5 Please provide your 
feedback on the seven themes 
identified on pp. 13 and 14. In 
working towards action plans, 
the following themes will 
influence delivery of the 
Strategy. Are these the right 
themes? Do you suggest any 
alternatives?

60% – 85% Agreed there 
were the right themes 
(varying by theme)

15 - 40% Disagreed 

Q6 With delivery of the Strategy 
in mind, do you have any 
suggestions for projects or other 
activity that could be undertaken 
in relation to each theme?

45% – 65% responded 
with suggestions.

(Place Branding and Land 
& Premises for Business 
Growth answered most)

Individual suggestions can 
be viewed in full as part of 
the background papers.

Q7 Looking beyond Covid19, 
what opportunities and 
challenges do you see within 
your business sector and for the 
local economy?

53% - 80% response rate, 
with the highest being 
‘challenges for the local 
economy’ 

Q8 Together - how might we 
address the most important 
opportunities and challenges 
above?

50% response rate.

Q10 Any other thoughts, 
feedback or suggestions?

45% response rate.

Page 13



4

4. INITIAL FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

4.1 The number of respondents was not high but did demonstrate strong engagement 
from those who did respond (100% survey completion rate and full responses to 
all questions by a majority of respondents).

4.2 Overall, responses were broadly positive and feedback was in support of the 
seven themes identified in the strategy. It is proposed that detailed suggestions 
and critique from respondents be taken into account in the development of 
detailed actions. 

4.3 It is intended that the results of the consultation will also be communicated 
externally in an easy, visual format to those who responded and more widely, to 
encourage involvement in action planning, where engagement is crucial.

4.4 Business Feedback

4.4.1 A number of respondents in the service sector emphasised the impact of 
increased Working from Home and the new business opportunities 
associated with a more ‘locally focussed’ economy.

4.4.2 A request for direct assistance and town planning flexibilities in local 
employment centres within Gravesend and the wider Borough.

4.4.3 The experiential and visitor economy was highlighted as an opportunity for 
the town and wider Borough to attract spend into the local economy. 

4.4.4 Limited local availability of medium-sized and larger business units for 
growing businesses (with sufficient associated parking) is a barrier. 

4.4.5 There is a need for affordable rental premises for start-up businesses. 

4.4.6 Concern about the loss of brownfield sites to housing, reducing the 
availability of land and premises for businesses and also a perceived risk 
of dormitory status for urban areas, with fewer local employment or 
enterprise opportunities.

4.4.7 Recruitment challenges and a desire for skills development, including 
through Apprenticeships. Also one mention of the lack of local higher 
education opportunities. 

4.4.8 A desire to embrace and encourage new investment from larger employers 
and London Resort in particular. 

4.4.9 A suggestion of greater availability of ‘in person’ support from council 
services, including business networking (this was a new business, 
unaware of Gravesham Business Network prior to getting in touch).

4.5 Resident Feedback 

4.5.1 Residents also cited skills training and educational opportunities including 
Apprenticeships, as a priority. Health and wellbeing and food production 
were mentioned as new focuses for the local economy. Greater emphasis 
was suggested in relation to creating more green spaces and promoting 
opportunities for walking and cycling, as well as the associated climate 
response and congestion. 

Page 14



5

4.5.2 Multiple responses were received in relation to improving the overall 
quality of the town centre, with suggestions including conversion of the 
former Debenhams store into flexible workspace, as well as more leisure 
uses, open space and a focus on the riverside. 

4.5.3 Finally, there were concerns about the local economic impact, if larger 
employers are lost and hence an emphasis upon securing new investment. 

4.6 There was a general theme of working together to create an environment in which 
local enterprises can adapt to take advantage of fast-changing customer 
expectations. This would require a flexible approach from all and closer 
partnership working between the Council, business and the wider community. 

4.7 Other Feedback 

4.7.1 A Facebook post anchored by an image showing town centre and riverside 
residential developments (as well as the proposed London Resort and a 
plan view of the proposed Nuralite Business Park) drew a number of 
comments from residents concerned about local infrastructure and 
capacity of the local health service. However, housing delivery is not an 
objective or theme of the strategy itself and those individuals who clicked 
through to the online survey, were then able to respond to the strategy 
themes instead. 

4.7.2 Feedback received by email, offered suggestions for updating references 
to the Greater North Kent Partnership and associated initiatives, as well as 
an emphasis upon health and wellbeing for a productive workforce and in 
two cases, additional comments in support of separate survey responses. 

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 Full and summary consultation responses are available to view.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 15



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There is no statutory duty to prepare a strategy for the economic development of 
the Borough.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications of specific actions taken as part of this economic growth 
strategy will be considered by the council and, if approved, taken forward within the 
council's budgetary process.

Risk Assessment None

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/a

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/a

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes because it promotes ongoing involvement in service planning through open 
engagement of a wide range of community stakeholders from different business 
and other backgrounds.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The corporate plan is referenced in the consultation document and the aims fit 
within the themes of People, Place and Progress.

Climate Change The Council's climate change commitment is cross-referenced in the strategy as a 
priority theme.  Working to influence businesses to adopt steps to achieve net zero 
carbon is a key action for the council. 

Crime and Disorder No direct impacts.

Digital and website 
implications

Continued 'day to day' use of the digital and web site team's expertise to 
communicate action planning at a later date, post adoption of the strategy.

Page 16

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct impacts.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 – Consultation Activity

Example Social Media Posts – Economic Growth Strategy consultation 

P
age 19



Gravesham Business Network newsletters – Economic Growth Strategy consultation 

P
age 20



‘In Person’ and Digital Feedback Opportunities – Economic Growth Strategy

Online Survey MonkeyBusiness Network – 21 Sept

P
age 21



GBC Consultation Web Pages & Your Borough

Your Borough

P
age 22



P
age 23



P
age 24



Draft Economic Growth Strategy for Gravesham, 2021-23 03 

P
age 25



P
age 26



P
age 27



P
age 28



P
age 29



P
age 30



P
age 31



P
age 32



P
age 33



P
age 34



P
age 35



P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision:         No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee

Date: 9 December 2021

Reporting officer: Service Manager (Planning)

Subject: Draft Planning Enforcement Strategy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report a draft planning enforcement strategy (Appendix 2) to the Committee and to seek 
the Committee’s views. 

Recommendations:
1. That the Committee endorse the draft planning enforcement strategy.  

1. Introduction and draft Planning Enforcement Strategy

1.1 The Council recognises the importance of establishing effective controls over 
unauthorised development. This is to help preserve and enhance both the built 
and natural environment, to protect public amenities and the wellbeing of 
residents.

1.2 However, the Council as a Local Planning Authority has to be reasonable in its 
approach and has the discretion to take enforcement action when it is considered 
expedient to do so. When taking enforcement action, the Council has to have 
regard to the development plan and any other material considerations, such as 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), as well as the European 
Convention on Human Rights. 

1.3 The Government requires that any breach of planning control should be handled 
in a fair and proportionate manner. Whilst there may be a clear public interest in 
enforcing planning law and regulations when deciding whether enforcement action 
is taken, the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance advises that Local 
Planning Authorities should also consider:

 the potential impact on health, housing needs and welfare of those 
affected by the proposed action; and

 the potential impact on health, housing needs and welfare of those who 
are affected by a breach of planning control. 

Page 41 Agenda Item 7



2

1.4 As part of the proportionate approach to planning enforcement, there is an 
expectation that the Council will engage and liaise with those who have 
undertaken unauthorised development or breaches of planning conditions etc. in 
the first instance, before progressing to more formal stages of enforcement 
(subject to the harm caused by any potential breach of planning control). 

1.5 The time limits for taking enforcement action are set out in section 171B of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. In most cases, development becomes 
immune from enforcement if no action is taken:

 within 4 years of substantial completion for a breach of planning control 
consisting of operational development;

 within 4 years for an unauthorised change of use to a single 
dwellinghouse;

 within 10 years for any other breach of planning control (essentially other 
changes of use).

1.6 Councillors and Parish Councils, as well as residents, have increasingly engaged 
with the planning enforcement service with high expectations on the ability of the 
service to handle cases expeditiously. As such, officers have prepared a draft 
planning enforcement strategy (Appendix 2), based on feedback received from the 
Committee in September 2022. The strategy is aimed at increasing awareness 
amongst Councillors and the local community with regards to what enforcement 
powers the Council has, as well as managing their expectations and providing 
clarity on how cases are handled.

1.7 The Planning Enforcement Strategy will also fulfil the NPPF’s requirement for 
Local Planning Authorities to consider publishing a local enforcement plan. Which 
as set out in Planning Practice Guidance, is useful because it:

 allows engagement in the process of defining objectives and priorities 
which are tailored to local circumstances;

 sets out the priorities for enforcement action, which will inform decisions 
about when to take enforcement action;

 provides greater transparency and accountability about how the local 
planning authority will decide if it is expedient to exercise its discretionary 
powers;

 provides greater certainty for all parties engaged in the development 
process.

2. Next Steps

2.1 Subject to comments made by the Committee and Members endorsing the 
strategy, the document would be formatted in line with the Council’s agreed 
branding and a summary guide produced. Followed by formal adoption and the 
documents being published on the Council’s website. 

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report. 

Page 42



3

Page 43



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Council as a Local Planning Authority has powers to deal with unauthorised 
development and breaches of planning control. The use of these powers in many 
instances (as set out in the strategy) is discretionary. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

No change to existing agreed budgets.

Risk Assessment There are no specific risks associated with the detail contained within the draft 
strategy. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The draft Planning Enforcement Strategy has cross cutting beneficial impacts in 
relation to the Corporate Plan, and objective #1 – People and objective #2 – Place

Climate Change There are no direct implications resulting from this report, however enforcement 
action can contribute towards ensuring unauthorised development does not harm 
the environment and contribute towards climate change. 

Crime and Disorder There are no direct crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Page 44

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Digital and website 
implications

Once approved, there will be a requirement for the Strategy and quick guide to be 
published on the Council's website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report. 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Draft Planning Enforcement Strategy

Contents
Draft Planning Enforcement Strategy ..................................................................................1

Introduction ......................................................................................................................2
Ebbsfleet Garden City ..................................................................................................2
What is a breach of planning control? ..........................................................................3
What isn’t a breach of planning control? ......................................................................3
Building Control ............................................................................................................4
Health and Safety .........................................................................................................5
Party Wall and Boundary Disputes...............................................................................5
Planning Enforcement and Privacy ..............................................................................5

How do we undertake planning enforcement? Purpose and principles ...........................6
Do planning regulations require individuals/organisations to be punished if they haven’t 
followed the relevant regulations, legislation and guidance? ...........................................7
What is ‘harm’? ................................................................................................................7
How are breaches discovered?........................................................................................8
Investigations and actions................................................................................................8
Urgent Works to Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas ...........................................13
Priorities for Action .........................................................................................................13
Violence towards officers ...............................................................................................14
Complaints about the service.........................................................................................14
Appendix 1: Planning Enforcement Flow Chart .............................................................15
Appendix 2: Enforcement checklist ................................................................................16
Appendix 3: Example enforcement notice – operational development ............................2
Appendix 4: Example Stop Notice....................................................................................2
Appendix 5: Example Temporary Stop Notice .................................................................4
Appendix 6: Breach of Condition Notice ..........................................................................6
Appendix 7: s215 Procedure and example letters .........................................................23

Please note xyz sets out whether further information has to be added.  

Page 47



2

Introduction
Gravesham is an area where there are high demands on the use of land and buildings, 
resulting in increasing competition between users, developers and residents. We are 
committed to ensuring that the built environment is of a high quality and that areas and 
buildings of architectural and historic interest are preserved and enhanced. This is 
reflected in the Borough’s adopted Corporate Plan, which includes a vision objective to: 

“Conserve and enhance the borough’s rich historic built environment, landscape character 
and biodiversity as well as to respect its distinctive local character.”

The Council’s development management service regulates the use and development of 
land and buildings in accordance with the Planning Acts and related legislation. Most 
building works, changes of use, advertisements and works to protected trees require 
either planning permission or consent. 

Development that takes place without the appropriate permissions or compliance with 
approved plans and conditions is said to be a ‘breach of planning control. Such breaches 
are a matter of concern to the public and may require investigation. However, planning 
law includes a legal test of ‘expediency’ that requires our actions to be fair and 
reasonable. 

Expediency depends on the degree of harm being caused and whether or not a 
negotiated solution is likely to be achieved, whether it is a suitable course of action in 
comparison with other legislation and that it is advantageous for the Council to take such 
action rather than other statutory organisations (such as the Environment Agency).

Whilst ensuring that any enforcement action is always commensurate with the breach of 
planning control it relates to, the Council will take a proactive and robust approach to 
protect the quality of the Borough’s natural and built environment, including the Borough’s 
heritage assets and the quality of life of local residents. 

The Council also has powers to address untidy sites/land/buildings and ensure the 
Borough’s heritage assets especially listed buildings, are conserved and protected. Where 
the amenity of local areas is harmed by untidy sites/land/buildings or where repairs/works 
are needed to listed buildings to ensure the conservation of heritage assets, the Council 
will utilise its powers in a fair but robust manner. 

Ebbsfleet Garden City
The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation has been set up to speed up delivery of the 
homes and create a 21st century Garden City in north Kent. The Corporation is working 
with us and local communities to develop a shared vision for the area. 

The Corporation is now responsible for deciding planning applications, giving pre-
application advice and carrying out planning enforcement in its area. As such, this 
strategy does not apply within the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation’s area. The area 
covered by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation is shown overleaf.

Page 48



3

What is a breach of planning control?
A breach of planning control is defined in section 171A of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as, the carrying out of development without the required planning permission or 
failing to comply with any condition or limitation subject to which planning permission has 
been granted. Breaches of planning control include:

 Unauthorised works to listed buildings
 Unauthorised works to trees with a tree preservation order (TPO) or in a 

Conservation Area
 Breaches of planning conditions
 Failure to comply with a s106 agreement
 Unauthorised development works and changes of use
 Removal of protected hedgerows
 Not building in accordance with the approved plans that form part of a planning 

permission
 Unauthorised engineering operations, such as the creation of earth bunds
 The Council also has the power to act where a site/property has become untidy, 

and its untidiness harms the amenity of the surrounding area.

What isn’t a breach of planning control?
Issues not considered breaches include:

 Party Wall disagreements
 Obstruction of a highway or public right of way
 Parking of vehicles on the highway or on grass verges
 Parking caravans on residential driveways
 Land ownership disputes or trespass issues
 Covenants imposed on property Deeds

Page 49



4

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recognises that effective enforcement is 
important as a means of maintaining public confidence in the planning system and 
requires local planning authorities to act proportionately in responding to suspected 
breaches of planning control. This document sets out how we will deal with alleged 
breaches of planning control and functions as the Council’s ‘local enforcement plan’ for 
the purposes of the NPPF.

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) states that there is a clear public interest in enforcing 
planning law in a proportionate way. Effective enforcement is important to:

 tackle breaches of planning control which have an unacceptable impact on the 
amenity of the area or are otherwise seriously contrary to planning policy;

 maintain the integrity of the decision-making process;
 help ensure that public acceptance of the decision-making process is maintained.

The Council’s planning enforcement service is concerned with resolving breaches of 
planning control, and seeks to balance the concerns of local people with the rights of 
owners. The Council cannot take enforcement action simply to remedy a breach of 
planning control, if that breach is considered acceptable in planning terms. There must be 
harm to public amenity, safety or the environment for enforcement action to be justified. 
Where harm cannot be demonstrated, it would not be justified for the Council to 
enforcement action to remedy a breach of planning control. It does not, therefore, follow 
that because there has been a breach of planning control that enforcement action will be 
taken.

In considering the issue of expediency, the Council will have regard to:

 whether and the degree to which any breach of planning control unacceptably 
harms public amenity, safety or the environment; 

 whether the existing use of land and buildings merit protection in the public 
interest; 

 ensuring any enforcement action is commensurate with the breach of planning 
control to which it relates. Enforcement action will not normally be taken to remedy 
trivial or technical breaches of control which are considered to be acceptable in 
planning terms; 

 statutory time limits for taking enforcement action;
 relevant planning policies and other material considerations.

Before resorting to any formal action, there may be other approaches that the planning 
enforcement service explores, such as agreeing on changes to a development or activity, 
and encouraging the submission of a planning application.

In accordance with the NPPF and PPG the planning enforcement service will take a fair 
and reasonable approach in pursuing appropriate action to resolve breaches in line with 
the Council’s agreed priorities, using the powers that are available to the Council. 

All parties will be treated fairly and in accordance with the standards set out in this 
document.

Please note that Gravesham Borough Council is not responsible for waste and minerals. 
Any enforcement complaints related to waste and minerals should be sent to Kent County 
Council for their action. Complaints can be raised directly by using the following link 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/contact-us .

Building Control
Building control is dealt with separately to planning control and is not included in this plan. 
Building control operates under its own legislation, the Building Control Act and Approved 
Documents. Building Control also check that dangerous structures are made safe and that 

Page 50

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/contact-us


5

demolitions are carried out in a safe manner. Checks can be made between the plans 
submitted for building control and the approved plans for planning permission, to ensure 
that there are no major discrepancies between the proposals on the plans. We will work 
closely with our colleagues to resolve any matters.

If you have any queries that relate to Building Control, then please contact STG Building 

Control at building@stgbc.org.uk · 01634 331133

Health and Safety
The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM 2015) came into 
force in Great Britain on 6 April 2015. They set out what people involved in construction 
work need to do to protect themselves from harm and anyone the work affects.

If you see something in a workplace that you think is breaking health and safety law and is 
likely to cause serious harm, you can report it to the Health and Safety Executive. Please 
see https://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/concerns.htm for further details.

Party Wall and Boundary Disputes
Party wall agreements are different from planning permission or building regulations 
approval. Party walls stand on (between) the land of 2 or more owners and either:

 form part of a building
 don’t form part of a building, such as a garden wall (not wooden fences)

Walls on one owner’s land used by other owners (2 or more) to separate their buildings 
are also party walls.

You must tell your neighbours if you want to carry out any building work near or on your 
shared property boundary, or ‘party wall’, in England and Wales. For further details, 
please see https://www.gov.uk/topic/housing/party-walls . Works to party walls are a civil 
matter and outside the remit of planning enforcement. If you require assistance, please 
seek your own legal advice.

Land boundaries or ownership disputes are also civil matters. If you require assistance, 
please seek your own legal advice or discuss the matter with an RICS Surveyor. 
Alternatively, consider utilising RICS’s neighbour disputes service. Please see 
https://www.rics.org/uk/products/dispute-resolution-service/drs-services/neighbour-
disputes-service/ .

Planning Enforcement and Privacy
The Council’s Planning Enforcement Privacy Notice is available at 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/footer/privacy/privacy-notice/privacy-notices-by-
service. 

Allegations of a planning breach against a particular property or person inevitably contain 
personal data, and personal data is governed by the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 
2018), and the UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR). 

This legislation and regulations prohibit what information the Council can make public. 
Whilst the Council does maintain a list of cases where:

1. a potential breach has been reported;
2. a breach identified but the matter is under further investigation or negotiation to 

remedy the situation; or 
3. formal enforcement action has/is being taken

Page 51

https://www.hse.gov.uk/contact/concerns.htm
https://www.gov.uk/topic/housing/party-walls
https://www.rics.org/uk/products/dispute-resolution-service/drs-services/neighbour-disputes-service/
https://www.rics.org/uk/products/dispute-resolution-service/drs-services/neighbour-disputes-service/


6

this list cannot be made public. The Council recognises that a breach of planning control 
can be contentious and worrisome for members of the public, especially when the amenity 
of members of the public is directly impacted. However, in all instances, the Council is 
under a duty to safeguard the data of people, some of whom may be vulnerable or have 
protected characteristics.

As such, the information that the Council can share in relation to enforcement cases is 
severely restricted, whilst the Council may provide limited information about the stage of 
the process once a breach has been identified. The information provided will be restricted 
to ensure no personal data is made available. 

Details regarding what formal enforcement action has been taken can be viewed as part 
of the Council’s Planning Enforcement Register, at xxxx.

How do we undertake planning enforcement? Purpose and principles
Unlawful development and neglected sites can cause serious harm to people and the built 
environment. The main purpose of planning enforcement is to deal with such harmful 
activities effectively. Our enforcement work is an important part of the Council’s overall 
planning service. 

With some notable exceptions, such as unauthorised works to listed buildings, breaches 
of planning control are not criminal offences. It is for the Council to decide what, if any, 
action should be taken in response to a breach of planning control. 

A criminal offence only arises when an Enforcement Notice has been served and has not 
been complied with.

Each breach is considered on its individual merits whilst acting in line with the following 
principles: 

 Proportionality – our enforcement action will be in keeping with the scale of the 
alleged breach and the seriousness of the harm caused. 

 Consistency – as far as possible similar circumstances will be dealt with by taking 
a similar approach in order to achieve similar outcomes. We aim to achieve 
consistency in advice, responses to breaches, use of powers and decisions on 
whether to prosecute.

 Transparency – we will ensure that everyone involved understands our processes 
and procedures, including what rights of complaint and appeal may be open to 
them.

 Accountability – we will publish standards of service, as well as monitor and report 
our performance to the Council’s Strategic Environment  Cabinet committee. 

By acting in this way we aim to: 

 protect the Borough from the effects of development that is not acceptable in 
planning terms; 

 recognise that some breaches may be unintentional; 
 remedy the harmful effects of unauthorised development having considered the 

scale of the breach and seriousness of the harm caused; 
 uphold the credibility of the planning system; 
 make sure development complies with planning permissions and conditions;
 ensure that local planning policies are implemented;
 provide excellent customer service and a uniform standard of service;
 utilise resources efficiently and effectively

Page 52



7

Do planning regulations require individuals/organisations to be punished if they 
haven’t followed the relevant regulations, legislation and guidance?
Other than in the case of unauthorised display of advertisements or works to listed 
buildings, carrying out building works or a change of use without the necessary planning 
permission is not a criminal act and, initially, not subject to penalties such as fines or 
imprisonment. 

If later in the process formal enforcement action is taken, such as an enforcement notice 
served and not complied with, then the Council has to apply to the Courts for action to be 
taken and penalties to be imposed, the Council cannot take unilaterally take direct action. 

Planning enforcement is a discretionary power of a local authority that should only be 
used to put right any harm caused by a failure to comply with planning control. However, 
the Council is clear that whilst any enforcement action it takes will be commensurate to 
the breach to which it relates to, the Council will take a proactive and robust approach to 
protect the quality of the Borough’s natural and built environment and the quality of life of 
local residents.  

When there is no harm, or it is insignificant, the view of the Government and Courts is that 
enforcement action is generally not justified. Harm requiring enforcement action would 
normally occur when the breach in question results in an unacceptable departure from 
relevant planning policies that would have justified refusing planning permission if it had 
been the subject of a planning application.

What is ‘harm’?
Planning harm requires the use of planning judgement and requires the consideration of 
planning balance before a decision is made on whether or not a breach has occurred. As 
such, a definitive list of what constitutes harm is not available, but any identified harm 
must be balanced against any benefits of the development. Examples of harm could 
include:

 Increased risk of flooding
 Unacceptable design 
 Severe harm to highway safety 
 Loss of residential amenity - such as excessive overlooking of windows or 

gardens, loss of light, overbearing by large new buildings too close to boundaries
 Untidy land that impacts local amenity
 Detrimental impact on general amenity – when comparing against the existing 

character, appearance and environmental quality of a place 
 Harm to heritage assets (including through unauthorised works and neglect)
 Harm to designated landscape such as Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB), Conservation Area (CA), Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), etc

The following are NOT examples of harm:

 Loss of value to a neighbouring property
 Competition to another business
 Loss of an individual’s view or trespass onto someone else’s land.
 Works undertaken without the landowner(s) consent
 Matters that fall within the remit of the Party Wall Act or the remit of other 

regulatory powers/agencies, such as Building Control, HSE  - Health and Safety. 

It may be possible to address issues such as these by way of civil action, although this is 
a matter for the individual to pursue and is not an area where we (the Council) would be 
involved.

Page 53



8

How are breaches discovered?
Breaches are brought to the Council's attention by the public, Councillors and by Council 
officers who monitor developments. Planning enforcement action can only be taken when 
works have been undertaken, or a use commenced without the appropriate permission or 
consent. 

When an enforcement complaint is made to the Council, officers must first establish 
whether permission was needed: enforcement action cannot be taken if the works or use 
do not require permission or are permitted by the planning legislation.

A planning breach can be reported via the Council’s website at 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement/report-
a-planning-breach 

Investigations and actions
All breaches must be reported in writing, preferably via our website, except where 
complainants are unable to do so.

The identity of a person/persons making a complaint is kept confidential unless the 
Council is required to release the information; for example, if a case proceeds to the 
appeal stage, and if a complainant’s evidence is part of the Council’s case, anonymity 
cannot be guaranteed. However, we will ask for the complainant’s agreement if we need 
to do this. In some cases, the Council’s case may be weakened by a complainant not 
agreeing to forego anonymity, and in such cases, it may not be expedient to proceed with 
formal enforcement action.

All complaints received will be logged and investigated to ascertain if there has been a 
breach of planning control unless they are: 

o anonymous 
o not motivated by planning harm, e.g. motivated by business competition and a 

neighbour dispute
o been subject of a previous complaint
o otherwise inappropriate

Only after establishing that there has been a breach of planning control will we undertake 
further investigations. Whilst some may require formal action, not all will be equally 
serious. We will carry out investigations thoroughly and accurately in accordance with the 
following priorities:

High Priority - we aim to undertake a site visit within 1 working day

 Unauthorised development that is causing immediate, serious and irreversible 
harm to neighbourhood facilities or other acknowledged interests, such as: 

o Works that seriously affect the fabric of a listed building 
o Demolition work affecting a building in a conservation area; 
o Felling or lopping of a tree protected by a Tree Preservation Order or a tree 

within a conservation area. 
 Unauthorised development causing immediate and severe harm to ecology or the 

public.

Medium Priority – we aim to undertake a site visit within 5 working days 

 Unauthorised development that causes significant harm to an area and/or the 
living conditions of neighbours, such as: 

 Residential extensions resulting in unacceptable harm to residential 
amenity; 

Page 54

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement/report-a-planning-breach
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/planning-enforcement/report-a-planning-breach


9

 Alterations that fail to preserve or enhance the character or appearance of 
a conservation area; 

 Unauthorised use of a building or land; 
 Breach of a planning condition resulting in significant noise, disturbance or 

loss of privacy for adjoining occupiers. 
 Unauthorised development that is contrary to significant policies in the 

development plan, such as: 
o Green Belt (Policy CS02)
o Loss of residential accommodation; 
o Creation of sub-standard accommodation. 

 Situations where collective breaches are likely to cause significant harm to the 
character and appearance of a neighbourhood, contrary to development plan 
policy, such as: 

o Advertisement displays 
o Alterations contrary to an Article 4 Direction.

o Urgent work to Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas
o Lack of site maintenance impacting on amenity

Low Priority – we aim to carry out a site visit within 20 working days 

o Breaches of planning control, such as: 
o Non-compliance with conditions not covered by high or medium priorities;

 Unauthorised development where minimal harm is anticipated; 
 Unauthorised development which is likely to comply with adopted 

policies, subject to a retrospective planning application;
 Development that has been built without complying with the 

approved plans, but where planning permission is likely to be 
granted with minor amendments, subject to a retrospective planning 
application.

We recognise that potential breaches of planning control and investigations of possible 
breaches can be worrying for everyone involved and that keeping parties involved 
informed can assist in reducing concerns.  However, the level of information the Council 
will be able to share will be governed by the Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA 2018), and 
the UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR).

Subject to resources, the Council will:

 acknowledge complaints within 5 working days of receipt.
 treat information received in confidence, unless otherwise agreed with the 

complainant or required by law.
 carry out a desk top assessment of the complaint to ascertain extent of any breach
 carry out a site visit on all complaints considered to require further investigation in 

line with the priority levels set out above
 make a preliminary assessment as to whether a breach of planning control has 

occurred in line with the priority levels set out above
 update the complainant at the following stages of the investigation:

o when a breach is established/not established and a decision made to 
pursue/not to pursue enforcement action.

o when an enforcement notice has been issued.
o when an appeal against an enforcement notice has been formally

started by the Planning Inspectorate.
o when an enforcement notice has been issued.
o when an appeal decision is received from the Planning Inspectorate.

Page 55



10

Site visits are normally undertaken without prior notice, unless access is required to be 
arranged. This is because of the need to obtain accurate, representative and timely 
evidence of how a site is being used, or in terms of building works, because difficulties in 
contacting site managers can sometimes significantly delay an investigation.

An assessment of the extent of any breach, the degree of harm, and of the appropriate 
next steps will then be made. Formal action will only be taken where the breach causes 
unacceptable planning harm. This usually means that it would have a harmful effect on 
local residents or the character of an area. This judgement will be made by reference to 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and all its subordinate and 
associated legislation, relevant national, regional and local planning policies and other 
material considerations, including the Human Rights Act.

The Council will work co-ordinate action between different council services to ensure the 
most effective remedy is used. For example, action by Environmental Protection 
colleagues on a noise nuisance may be a better option than lengthy planning 
enforcement. 

Policies regarding the acceptability of development and also what needs planning 
permission change over time. Decisions on cases will be assessed on their individual 
circumstances. There will be cases where decisions on two similar developments in the 
same street or in the same area could be different if, for example, their impact on the 
surroundings differs or the policy context has changed. 

Only a small proportion (about xyz%) of complaints received result in formal action. Many 
of the rest are resolved without the need to take formal action.

Planning enforcement can be a lengthy process. The initial investigation to establish 
whether a breach has occurred can take weeks or sometimes longer, and there are also 
rights of appeal which may be pursued before an enforcement notice can come into 
effect. More complicated cases can take several years to resolve, especially where it is 
necessary to take action in the courts. 

Depending on the nature of a confirmed breach of planning control, there are a range of 
measures the Council can take.

Take no action: The Council may, following the initial investigation, decide that there has 
been no breach of planning control or that the breach is minor or insignificant in nature, or 
that there is insufficient evidence to pursue the matter. Development can be immune from 
enforcement action if the unauthorised development or change of use has occurred over a 
long period of time without being brought to our attention as there are certain time limits 
involved in relation to operational development and changes of use.

Ongoing Review: Instances where no immediate action is warranted, but there is a need 
to monitor the position in case circumstances change. Such cases might include minor 
breaches causing no significant harm, those which are unlikely to create a precedent or 
which may be remedied of their own accord before formal enforcement action is likely to 
become effective (such as temporary uses).

Allow Time to Remedy/Negotiate a solution: Time may be given to remedy the breach 
or justify its retention. Such cases may include situations where the harm is easily 
repairable and is not so serious as to warrant immediate action or where it may be 
otherwise justifiable. Where it has been established that a breach of planning control has 
occurred, the Council will normally attempt to negotiate a solution to regularise the breach 
of planning control without recourse to formal enforcement action. Such negotiations may 
involve the reduction or cessation of an unauthorised use of activity, or the modification or 
removal of unauthorised operational development.

Page 56



11

However, because formal enforcement action takes some time in any event, any informal 
opportunity to resolve the breach will not be allowed to delay effective action 
unnecessarily. Where the Council is unable to negotiate an acceptable solution within a 
reasonable timescale, the Council will consider whether or not it is expedient to take 
formal enforcement action.

Planning Contravention Notice: This is a formal questionnaire that allows the Council to 
seek information about an alleged breach before deciding on a response.

Retrospective application for planning permission: Where a breach of planning 
control has occurred, but no harm is being caused, or any harm might be removed or 
alleviated by the imposition of conditions on a planning permission, the person(s) 
responsible will be invited to submit a retrospective planning application within a specified 
time scale. In such circumstances, it will be made clear that the invitation to submit a 
retrospective application is made without prejudice to any final decision the Council may 
take in the matter. If such an application is not submitted, the Council will consider 
whether or not it is expedient to take formal enforcement action.

Formal enforcement action

Where it has been established that a breach of planning control has occurred, the Council 
will consider using its statutory powers to take action to remedy the breach. The use of 
these powers listed below is discretionary and will only be used when it is considered 
expedient to do so. Any action taken must be proportionate to the breach of planning 
control, and each case is assessed on its own merits.

The decision to take enforcement action or commence a prosecution will be taken in 
accordance with the delegation arrangements detailed in the Council’s Constitution.

There are rights of appeal to the Secretary of State against an Enforcement Notice / 
Listed Building / Conservation Area Enforcement Notice. In the case of Breach of 
Condition Notices and Temporary Stop Notices, there is no right of appeal to the 
Secretary of State, and these may only be challenged by application for judicial review to 
the High Court. In the case of Section 215 Notices, prosecutions and injunctions, appeals 
must be made through the Courts.

Enforcement Notices: This is the most common formal means of remedying 
unacceptable development. There is a right of appeal against a notice, which may be 
quashed or amended if the appeal is successful.

Breach of Condition Notices: These can be used in addition or as an alternative to an 
enforcement notice where the unauthorised activity is in breach of a condition attached to 
a planning permission. 

Stop Notice: The Council can issue a Stop Notice or Temporary Stop Notice where a 
breach is causing very serious or irreparable harm, and immediate action is justified 
despite the cost of depriving a developer of the benefit of development during the appeal 
period. 

Other statutory notices: Other statutory enforcement options available to the Council 
include s.215 ‘Untidy Land’ notices, Advertisement Removal Notices, Planning 
Enforcement Orders and Listed Building Enforcement Notices. These will be used where 
appropriate. 

s.215 Notice - If the Local Planning Authority considers that the condition of land or 
buildings is having a harmful effect on the area they may serve a Notice under Section 
215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 57



12

The notice may require certain steps to be undertaken by the owner of the land to remedy 
its condition. Failure to comply with a Section 215 Notice is an offence that could be the 
subject of a prosecution. In addition, the Local Planning Authority have the power to enter 
the land, carry out the work and charge the cost of such work to the landowner, which 
may also involve a financial charge on the land. There is the right of appeal to the courts 
against such notices.

Court Injunction: Injunctions will only be sought in the most serious cases, where 
irreparable harm is being done or where other actions have failed. Significant costs are 
involved in bringing such actions and can only be justified in extreme cases. Defendants 
risk imprisonment if they do not comply with a court order 

“Default” Powers or Direct Action: The Council may enter land to take the necessary 
steps to secure compliance when eg. an Enforcement or advertisement removal notice 
comes into effect.

Prosecution: Before commencing any legal proceedings, the Council will be satisfied that 
there is sufficient evidence to offer a realistic prospect of conviction and that the legal 
proceedings are in the public interest. The Council will consider commencing a 
prosecution in the Courts against any person who has failed to comply with the 
requirement(s) of any of the following Notices where the date for compliance has passed 
and the requirements have not been complied with.

(i) Enforcement Notice

(ii) Listed Building Enforcement Notice

(iii) Conservation Area Enforcement Notice

(iv) Breach of Condition Notice

(v) Section 215 Notice

(vi) Stop Notice

The Council will also consider commencing a prosecution in the Courts where:

(a) unauthorised works have been carried out to trees subject to a Tree Preservation 
Order, or in a designated Conservation Area

(b) an advertisement is being displayed without the necessary consent and the Council’s 
request to remove it within a specified timescale has been declined or ignored

(c) unauthorised works have been carried out to a Listed Building

(d) unauthorised demolition has taken place in a Conservation Area

(e) the recipient of a Planning Contravention Notice has failed to provide a response 
within the prescribed time period or has supplied false or misleading information.

Where enforcement action is pursued, the Council will give the owner(s) of the site where 
a breach has been identified:

 advice on what action needs to be taken, why and by when.
 an opportunity to discuss or respond to issues raised before formal action is taken 

(except in the most urgent cases), however the Council will not delay enforcement 
action where there is evidence of a lack of co-operation or the ongoing harm is 
serious. Where an application is refused for the same or similar development, 
further discussion will often not be appropriate;

 give advice on the consequences of failing to take appropriate remedial action 
leading to formal action and advice on rights of appeal

Page 58



13

Urgent Works to Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas
It is usually in the interest of the owner(s) of a listed building/ property in a Conservation 
Area to keep their property in a good state of repair. Local Authorities, such as 
Gravesham Borough Council can take action to secure the repair of a listed building when 
concerned about its continued conservation (unless the land is owned by the Crown, 
subject to ecclesiastical exemption). This is done through the issuing of a repairs notice or 
an urgent works notice. A repairs notice is concerned with long-term conservation and is a 
pre-cursor to possible compulsory acquisition. An urgent notice is a direct way of securing 
repairs urgently necessary for the preservation of a building. The Council does have 
powers to compulsory acquire a listed building if an owner is unwilling or unable to carry 
out repairs themself and such action is required for the long-term preservation of the 
building. 

Separate legislation provides for urgent works to secure repairs to scheduled monuments. 
In Conservation Areas and usually at the request of a local authority, the Secretary of 
State has the power to direct that the urgent works provisions also apply to an unlisted 
building in a conservation area if the preservation of the building is important for 
maintaining the character or appearance of the conservation area.

Priorities for Action
Cases will be prioritised according to the seriousness of the alleged breach and the harm 
that is being caused. It will not be possible for the Council to pursue all cases.

Once a commitment is made to formal action it is essential to meet timescale and 
procedural requirements of the legal process, such as appeal deadlines. Ongoing cases 
will therefore be given priority over new complaints. 

The following indicates how the various types of enforcement cases will be prioritised and 
how resources will be allocated (the highest priority is first and lowest priority is last):

Types of enforcement cases
Ongoing court or appeal proceedings 
New complaints of serious irreparable harm
Ongoing breach of an enforcement notice which has come into effect and is causing 
serious planning harm
Identified breach causing serious harm
New complaints of serious harm to the amenities of an area
New complaints where the time limit for taking action expires imminently
Systematic breaches of planning control which may set a precedent giving rise to more 
widespread harm
Ongoing Investigations where no harm has been identified or minor harm is reparable
All other new complaints
Ongoing investigations where a breach has not been identified

The enforcement service will manage its resources to ensure that the highest priority 
complaints can be addressed without undue delay, with the response to lower priority 
complaints being adjusted accordingly. To ensure that an adequate overall service is 
provided, the allocation of resources will be periodically reviewed. The quality of evidence 
and support provided by complainants can also have a significant bearing on the outcome 
of an investigation and where such support is likely to increase the chances of a 
successful outcome, the matter may be given a higher priority. 

Page 59



14

Violence towards officers
The Council is committed to ensuring that its Officers are able to carry out their work 
safely and without fear and will use legal action to prevent abuse, harassment or assaults 
on Officers.

Complaints about the service
The Council has a complaints system. This procedure can and should be used by any 
person who is dissatisfied with any aspect of their dealings with the Council, including any 
deviation from the provisions of this Enforcement Policy.

How to make a complaint https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/footer/contact-us/make-a-
complaint/overview

Page 60



15

Appendix 1: Planning Enforcement Flow Chart

Page 61



16

Appendix 2: Enforcement checklist
GUIDANCE ON HARM ASSESSMENT CRITERION

IS THE BREACH

ongoing = for operations = building works are in progress

For COU = is it intensifying – increasing activity – continuing residential occupation

Stable = for operations = work complete

For COU = No change in degree of activity or appearance

 HIGHWAY SAFETY

YES = New/altered access to a highway, significant increase in use of access, creates on 
street stopping and or parking

OTHER SAFETY ISSUES

YES = Hazardous materials stored, potential fire risk, interference with safety of other 
uses/users

CAUSING STATUTORY NUISANCE

YES = Where dust, vibration, smell, fumes, light creating adverse physical effect upon 
health, and or where Environmental services are taking action

COMPLIANT = self explanatory

AGE OF BREACH = self explanatory 7 DEGREE OF HARM

This is where one must assess if the work/COU causes any harm to the area and if so

whether that harm is widespread or localised

Widespread – more than 10 residential properties directly affected, major policy breach 
i.e. dwelling in countryside or commercial operation in countryside, can be seen over 
several tens of metres, pollution is air borne and carried over neighbourhood

Local – this is where there is harm but only to immediate neighbours affected

IRREVERSIBLE HARM

YES = effectively a planning judgement as to whether retention of works/COU can be 
permitted without causing permanent damage to the environment or living conditions 
[would it be refused pp]

FLOOD RISK = Development within its respective Flood Risk Zone [graded 1 to 3] 10 BREACH OF 
PLANNING CONDITION OR ARTICLE 4 RESTRICTIONS

This will be a matter of fact and thus either yes or no

Page 62



17

CONSERVATION AREA OR ADJACENT

This will be a matter of fact and thus either yes or no

LISTED BUILDING OR ADJACENT

This will be a matter of fact and thus either yes or no

SPECIAL EXERCISE

This relates to whether the breach lies within a specific special project area e.g. 
regeneration area. Or is part of a specific proactive enforcement project

SENSITIVE AREAS

This will be a matter of fact and thus either yes or no. the special areas are AONB, SSSI, 
Ramsar Site, Area of archaeological importance, Scheduled Monument

UNDESIRABLE PRESEDENT

A matter of judgement i.e. if similar work/COU occurred would undermine an important 
planning principle for the area or cumulatively cause harmful change to character of the 
area.

Page 63



ENFORCEMENT HARM ASSESSMENT FORM

TO BE COMPLETED BY AN OFFICER WHO HAS SEEN THEDEVELOPMENT

Planning Balance Consideration

Is the breach: worsening 
stable 

Highway Safety Issue: yes 
no 

Other Safety Issues: yes 
no 

Causing a Statutory Nuisance yes 
no 

Complainant: Members, immediate neighbour, 
staff

Other, Parish Council  
Anonymous, malicious 

Age of breach: Within 6 months of immunity 
Less than 1 month 
More than 1 year old 

Degree of Harm: widespread 
local 
none 

Irreversible Harm: yes 
no 

Breach of condition or Article 4 yes 
no 

Flood Risk zone 3 
zone 2 
zone 1 

Conservation Area (or adjacent to) yes 
no 

Listed Building
(or affecting character or setting of)

yes 
no 

Special Exercise: 
(please provide details)

yes 
no 

Sensitive site:
(please provide details)

yes 
no 

Undesirable Precedent: 
(please provide details)

yes 
no 

Planning Balance, has a breach occurred that requires enforcement 
action: Yes/No

  If yes, is informal or formal action being pursued? Informal/Formal

Has due regard been given to the provisions of the Human Rights Act? Yes/No

Has due regard been given to the potential impact on health, housing needs and 
welfare of those affected by the proposed action and those affected by the 
breach? Yes/No

 

Page 64



Appendix 3: Example enforcement notice – operational development
Note 1: Wording for enforcement notices for a material change of use or failure to comply with a 
condition would need to reflect different types of breaches of control,remedies and time period for 
enforcement action.

All notices must comply with the requirements of Section 172 and Regulation 4 – Town and Country 
Planning (Enforcement Notices and Appeals)(England) Regulations2002 and should attach a copy of the 
Planning Inspectorate note on how to make an appeal against an enforcement notice.

Note 2: Every copy of the enforcement notice must also be accompanied by anExplanatory Note that 
complies with Regulation 5 – Town and Country Planning (Enforcement Notices and 
Appeals)(England) Regulations 2002

Note 3: Regulation 13 – Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 requires that notices 
and envelopes be marked with the words: "Important – ThisCommunication affects your Property".

IMPORTANT - THIS COMMUNICATION AFFECTS YOUR PROPERTYTOWN 

AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990

(As amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991)

ENFORCEMENT NOTICE

ISSUED BY: Gravesham Borough Council

1. THIS NOTICE is issued by the Council because it appears to them that there has been a 
breach of planning control, within paragraph (a) of section 171A(1) of the above Act, at the land 
described below. They consider that it is expedient to issue thisnotice, having regard to the 
provisions of the development plan and to other material planning considerations. The Annex at 
the end of the notice and the enclosures to which it refers contain important additional information.

THE LAND TO WHICH THE NOTICE RELATES

Land at [address of Land], shown edged in [a distinctive colour] on the attached plan.

THE MATTERS WHICH APPEAR TO CONSTITUTE THE BREACH OF PLANNINGCONTROL

Without planning permission, the erection of [describe the development], in theapproximate position 
marked with a cross on the attached plan.

REASONS FOR ISSUING THIS NOTICE

[Include the reasons why the local planning authority consider it expedient to issue the notice and all the 
policies and proposals which are relevant to the decision to issuean enforcement notice]

WHAT YOU ARE REQUIRED TO DO

[Explain what steps the local planning authority require to be taken [or what activitiesare required to cease to 
remedy the breach]]

Page 65

http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/pins/enfinfosheet.pdf
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/pins/enfinfosheet.pdf


TIME FOR COMPLIANCE

[Identify the time period after which this notice takes effect]

WHEN THIS NOTICE TAKES EFFECT

This notice takes effect on [specific date, not less than 28 clear days after date ofissue], unless an 
appeal is made against it beforehand.

Dated: [date of issue])

Signed: [Council's authorised officer]

On behalf of: [Council's name and address] 
Nominated Officer: [Name of contact officer]
Telephone Number: [of Nominated Officer]

ANNEX

YOUR RIGHT OF APPEAL

You can appeal against this notice, but any appeal must be received, or posted in timeto be received, by 
the Planning Inspectorate acting on behalf of the Secretary of State before the date specified in paragraph 
7 of the notice.

The enclosed information sheet published by the Planning Inspectorate gives details ofhow to make an 
appeal
[link to http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/pins/enfinfosheet.pdf]

WHAT HAPPENS IF YOU DO NOT APPEAL

If you do not appeal against this enforcement notice, it will take effect on the date specified in paragraph 
7 of the notice and you must then ensure that the required steps for complying with it, for which you may 
be held responsible, are taken withinthe period[s] specified in paragraph 6 of the notice. Failure to 
comply with an enforcement notice which has taken effect can result in prosecution and/or remedial
action by the Council.

Page 66

http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/pins/enfinfosheet.pdf


Appendix 4: Example Stop Notice

Model stop notice 

IMPORTANT - THIS COMMUNICATION AFFECTS YOUR PROPERTY

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
(As amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991)

STOP NOTICE
SERVED BY: Gravesham Borough Council herein after referred to as “the Council”.

To: [name of intended recipient of the notice]

1. On [date], the Council issued an enforcement notice (a copy is attached to this notice) alleging that 
there has been a breach of planning control on [description of the land to which the notice relates].

2. THIS NOTICE is issued by the Council, in exercise of their power in section 183 of the 1990 Act, 
because they consider that it is expedient that the activity specified in this notice should cease before 
the expiry of the period allowed for compliance with the requirements of the enforcement notice on the 
land described in paragraph 3 below. The Council now prohibit the carrying out of the activity specified 
in this notice. Important additional information is given in the Annex to this notice.
3. THE LAND TO WHICH THIS NOTICE RELATES

Land at [address of land, or description of relevant part of the land to which the enforcement notice 
relates], shown edged in [a distinctive colour] on the attached plan.
4. ACTIVITY TO WHICH THIS NOTICE RELATES

[Specify the activity required by the enforcement notice to cease, and any activity carried out as part of 
that activity, or associated with it.]
5. WHAT YOU ARE REQUIRED TO DO

Cease all the activity specified in this notice.

6. WHEN THIS NOTICE TAKES EFFECT

This notice takes effect on [date] when all the activity specified in this notice must cease. 

Dated: [date of notice]

Signed: [Council's authorised officer]

On behalf of [Council's name and address]

Nominated Officer [Name of contact officer]

Telephone Number [of Nominated Officer]

ANNEX WARNING
THIS NOTICE TAKES EFFECT ON THE DATE SPECIFIED IN PARAGRAPH 6.

THERE IS NO RIGHT OF APPEAL TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR COMMUNITIES AND 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT AGAINST THIS NOTICE.

It is an offence to contravene a stop notice after a site notice has been displayed or the stop notice has 
been served on you (section 187(1) of the 1990 Act).  If you then fail to comply with the stop notice you 
will be at risk of immediate prosecution for which the maximum penalty is an unlimited fine. If you are 
in any doubt about what this notice requires you to do, you should get in touch immediately with 

Page 67



[Council's nominated officer to deal with enquiries, address and telephone number].  If you need 
independent advice about this notice, you are advised to contact a lawyer, planning consultant or other 
professional adviser specialising in planning matters urgently.  If you wish to contest the validity of the 
notice, you may only do so by an application to the High Court for judicial review. Area designation 
guidance

Page 68



Appendix 5: Example Temporary Stop Notice
IMPORTANT - THIS COMMUNICATION AFFECTS YOUR PROPERTY

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990

(As amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004)

TEMPORARY STOP NOTICE

SERVED BY: Gravesham Borough Council herein after referred to as “the Council”.

To: [name of intended recipient of the notice]

1. The Council considers that there has been a breach of planning control on the land described in 
paragraph 3 below.  The breach of planning control is …

2. This temporary stop notice is issued by the Council, in exercise of their power in section 171E of 
the 1990 Act, because they think that it is expedient that the activity specified in this notice should 
cease on the land described in paragraph 4 below. The Council now prohibits the carrying out of the 
activity specified in this notice. Important additional information is given in the Annex to this notice.

3. THE REASONS FOR ISSUING THIS NOTICE

[Briefly specify the reasons why the temporary stop notice has been issued.  There is no 
requirement to outline specific policies from the development plan.]

4. THE LAND TO WHICH THIS NOTICE RELATES

Land at [address of land, or description of relevant part of the land to which the temporary stop 
notice relates], shown edged in a distinctive colour on the attached plan.

5. ACTIVITY TO WHICH THIS NOTICE RELATES

[Specify the activity required by the temporary stop notice to cease, and any activity carried out as 
part of that activity, or associated with it.]

6. WHAT YOU ARE REQUIRED TO DO

Cease all the activity specified in this notice.

Page 69



7. WHEN THIS NOTICE TAKES EFFECT

This notice takes effect on [date] when all the activity specified in this notice must cease.   This 
notice will cease to have effect on [date 28 days after it takes effect].

Dated: [date of notice]

Signed: [Council's authorised officer]

On behalf of [Council's name and address]

Nominated Officer [Name of contact officer]

Telephone Number [of Nominated Officer] 

ANNEX

WARNING

THIS NOTICE TAKES EFFECT ON THE DATE SPECIFIED IN PARAGRAPH 7.

THERE IS NO RIGHT OF APPEAL TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE AGAINST THIS NOTICE.

It is an offence to contravene a temporary stop notice after a site notice has been displayed or the 
temporary stop notice has been served on you (section 171G(1) of the 1990 Act). If you then fail to 
comply with the temporary stop notice you will be at risk of prosecution, for which the maximum 
penalty on conviction is an unlimited fine. If you are in any doubt about what this notice requires you 
to do, you should get in touch immediately with [Council's nominated officer to deal with enquiries, 
address and telephone number]. If you need independent advice about this notice, you are advised 
to contact urgently a lawyer, planning consultant or other professional adviser specialising in 
planning matters. If you wish to contest the validity of the notice, you may only do so by an 
application to the High Court for judicial review.

Page 70



Appendix 6: Breach of Condition Notice
IMPORTANT - THIS COMMUNICATION AFFECTS YOUR PROPERTY

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990

(As amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991)BREACH 

OF CONDITION NOTICE

SERVED BY: Gravesham Borough Council herein after referred to as “the Council”.

To: [name[s] of person[s] responsible for the alleged breach of condition]

1. THIS NOTICE is served by the Council, under section 187A of the above Act, because they 
consider that [a condition] [conditions] imposed on a grant of planningpermission, relating to the 
land described in paragraph 2 below, [has] [have] not been complied with. The Council consider 
that you should be required to [comply] [secure compliance] with the condition[s] specified in this 
notice. The Annex at the end of this notice contains important additional information.

2. THE LAND TO WHICH THE NOTICE RELATES

Land at [address of land], shown edged in [a distinctive colour] on the attached plan.

3. THE RELEVANT PLANNING PERMISSION

The relevant planning permission to which this notice relates is the permissiongranted by the 
Council on [date of issue of permission] for [description of development] Ref [Council's reference 
number].

4. THE BREACH OF CONDITION

The following condition[s] (has)(have) not been complied with:

[State the terms of each condition which has not been complied with.]

(1)

(2)

(3)

Page 71



22

5. WHAT YOU ARE REQUIRED TO DO

As the person responsible for the breach[es] of condition[s] specified in paragraph 4of this notice, you are 
required to [comply](secure compliance] with the stated condition[s] by taking the following steps:

[State clearly the steps to be taken in order to secure compliance with thecondition[s] in 
paragraph 4 above.]

(1)
(2)
(3)

[and] [ceasing the following activities:]

[State clearly the activities which must cease in order to secure compliance with thecondition[s] in paragraph 
4 above.]

(1)
(2)
(3)

Period for compliance: [not less than 28 days] beginning with the day on which thisnotice is served on you. 
[Different periods may be specified for each requirement].

Dated: [Date of notice]

Signed: [Council's authorised officer]

On behalf of: [Council's name and address] Nominated 
Officer: [Name of contact officer]Telephone Number: 
[of  Nominated Officer]

ANNEX WARNING 

THIS NOTICE TAKES EFFECT IMMEDIATELY IT IS SERVED ON YOU INPERSON OR 
ON THE DAY YOU RECEIVED IT BY POST.

THERE IS NO RIGHT OF APPEAL TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR
COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT AGAINST THIS NOTICE.

It is an offence to contravene the requirements in paragraph 5 of this notice after theend of the compliance 
period. You will then be at risk of immediate prosecution in theMagistrates' Court, for which the maximum 
penalty is [standard level 4] for a first offence and for any subsequent offence.

If you are in any doubt about what this notice requires you to do, you should get intouch immediately with 
[Council's nominated officer to deal with enquiries, addressand telephone number].

If you do need independent advice about this notice, you are advised to contact urgently a lawyer, planning 
consultant or other professional adviser specialising in planning matters. If you wish to contest the validity of the 
notice, you may only do soby an application to the High Court for judicial review.

Page 72



23

Appendix 7: s215 Procedure and example letters
Page 73



24

EXAMPLE: FIRST WARNING LETTER – BUILDING IN DISREPAIR

Dear Sir/Madam

PROPERTY ADVERSELY AFFECTING AMENITY OF NEIGHBOURHOOD 
[AREA/AREA]

As you may know, Gravesham Borough Council is committed to ensuring that 
improvements are carried out to buildings in [eg general/specific area] whose 
external condition has deteriorated. Improving such buildings has been identified 
by local people as a key priority for the Council and as a result of this a number of 
buildings across the Borough have been brought to a satisfactory condition.

The external appearance of the above mentioned premises is a source of concern 
primarily because of [the condition of render, external metalwork, paintwork, 
windows, grilles, doors]. The Council is writing to you today as the proprietor of the 
above mentioned premises as identified by the Land Registry. Its purpose is to 
respectfully request that works be carried out to remedy the poor external condition 
of the building in the near future, and to ascertain whether you have any plans in 
this regard. I would emphasise that your property is not being treated in isolation.
The owners of other premises in the vicinity are being similarly contacted.

I advise that if prompt progress is not made in terms of remedying the poor external 
condition of the premises and a guarantee given to the Council by you that such 
works will be undertaken, the Council has the option to take enforcement action 
under Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. This is a course 
that the Council would wish to avoid if at all possible. It is hoped, therefore, that 
your co-operation can be relied upon in terms of improving the building in the near 
future and giving a guarantee to that effect.

Page 74



25

EXAMPLE: FIRST WARNING LETTER – BUILDING & LAND IN DISREPAIR

Dear Sir/Madam

PROPERTY ADVERSELY AFFECTING AMENITY OF NEIGHBOURHOOD 
[AREA/AREA]

I have received a complaint in respect of the condition of your property at the above 
address. A recent visit by a Council officer has confirmed that its condition is 
unsatisfactory and is causing concern.

In these circumstances I must ask you to undertake the following works within 
21 days from the date of this letter, to abate the nuisance and bring the property 
back to an acceptable standard:

[1. …]

I advise that failure to comply with this request will leave the Council with no option 
but to consider action pursuant to Sections 215-219 of the Town & Country Planning  
Act 1990 (as amended). This could include formal action by way of service of a 
Notice, which will legally require you to undertake the work set out above. This is a 
course of action the Council would rather avoid and I seek your co-operation by 
carrying out these works. Such works will contribute towards achieving an [urban 
renaissance in [area]].

I enclose with this letter a Notice pursuant to Section 330 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended), which requires you to provide information about the 
ownership of the property and of any other person who may have an interest in it.

WARNING – Failure to respond to the enclosed Notice is a criminal offence 
punishable in the Magistrates Court with a fine of up to £1,000. It is also a criminal 
office to make a false statement in response to this Notice. On conviction in the 
Magistrates Court this offence is punishable with a fine of up to £5,000 or in the 
Crown Court which a fine, imprisonment, or both. The Local Authority may prosecute 
this matter in the Courts should there be a breach of this or any subsequent Notice.

Please complete in full the Notice reply form and return to me [using the enclosed 
stamped addressed envelope] within 21 days of the date of this letter.

Should you wish to discuss any of the above in detail, you can contact the officer 
named above on the number given, who will be pleased to assist you. It is my hope 
that this matter can be resolved in a spirit of mutual co-operation.

Page 75



28

EXAMPLE: SECOND WARNING LETTER – BUILDING IN DISREPAIR

Dear Sir/Madam

PROPERTY ADVERSELY AFFECTING AMENITY OF NEIGHBOURHOOD 
[AREA/AREA]

The Council last wrote to you about this matter on … A copy of that letter is attached  
for your information. The Council has not received a response from you.

I advise you that, unless the Council hears from you within five working days of 
the date of this letter, outlining the steps you are going to undertake to remedy 
the external condition of the premises, then it will take enforcement action under 
Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. This enforcement action 
will require the improvements to be carried out. As you can appreciate this is a 
course that the Council would wish to avoid. The matter however now rests with 
you.

Page 76



29

EXAMPLE: LETTER TO ACCOMPANY S215 NOTICE AND GUIDANCE TO MAKING AN 
APPEAL AGAINST S215 NOTICE

Dear Sir/Madam

PROPERTY ADVERSELY AFFECTING AMENITY OF NEIGHBOURHOOD 
[AREA/AREA]

I wrote to you on [date] concerning the above and seeking your co-operation in 
improving the condition of your property. You were invited to discuss this matter with 
my Officer if you wished.

A further inspection has been conducted and revealed that there has been no 
significant improvement in the condition of the property since I last wrote to you. 
[I note that you have failed to return the Section 330 Notice as required within the
period stated. I remind you that failure to complete the Notice is a criminal offence 
and can give rise to prosecution.]

Consequently, you will now find enclosed with this letter a formal Notice pursuant to 
Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), together with 
information concerning your right of appeal to the Magistrates Court. The Notice 
details the list of requirements that I consider are the minimum works required to 
bring the property back to a reasonable standard and which will rectify the adverse 
effects your property is having on the amenity of the neighbourhood.

I would still urge you, even at this late stage, to take the required action to resolve this 
matter as detailed in the Notice, within the next 28 days from the date of this letter.

Your failure to comply with this Notice will leave me with several courses of action. 
Either or all of these actions may be pursued as follows:

1. A prosecution in the Magistrates Court for non-compliance with the s215 Notice – 
which could result in a substantial fine if found guilty of an offence.

2. The Council carrying out the works required by the Notice followed by action 
in the County Court to recover, from you, all expenses and costs reasonably 
incurred by such action.

3. Registration with HM Land Registry of a charge on your property, recoverable 
should your property be sold.

You may consider that these actions are radical steps that should be avoided. But 
I must make clear that, unless the requirements of the Notice are complied with in
full, and within the specified period, I will proceed with a course of action described 
above.

Page 77



30

RIGHT OF APPEAL AGAINST SECTION 215 NOTICE

SECTIONS 217-218 OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990

217—(1) A person on whom a notice under Section 215 is served, or any other 
person having an interest in the land to which the notice relates, may, at any time 
within the period specified in the notice as the period at the end of which it is to take 
effect, appeal against the notice on any of the following grounds:

(a) that the condition of the land to which the notice relates does not adversely 
affect the amenity of any part of the area of the local planning authority who 
served the notice, or of any adjoining area;

(b) that the condition of the land to which the notice relates is attributable to, and 
such as results in the ordinary course of events from the carrying on of 
operations or a use of land which is not in contravention of Part III;

(c) that the requirements of the notice exceed what is necessary for preventing 
the condition of the land from adversely affecting the amenity of any part of 
the area of the local planning authority, who served the notice, or of any 
adjoining area;

(d) that the period specified in the notice as the period in within which any steps 
required by the notice are to be taken falls short of what should reasonably 
be allowed.

(2) Any appeal under this section shall be made to the Magistrates Court acting 
for the petty sessions in which the land in question is situated.

(3) Where such an appeal is brought, the notice to which it relates shall be of no 
effect pending the final determination or withdrawal of the appeal.

(4) On such an appeal the Magistrates Court may correct any informality, defect 
or error in the notice if satisfied that the informality, defect or error is not 
material.

(5) On the determination of such an appeal the Magistrates Court shall give 
directions for giving effect to their determination, including, where appropriate, 
directions for quashing the notice or for varying the terms of the notice in 
favour of the appellant.

(6) Where any person has appealed to a Magistrates Court under this section 
against a notice, neither that person nor any other shall be entitled, in any 
other proceedings instituted after the making of the appeal, to claim that the 
notice was not duly served on the person who appealed.

218 —Where an appeal has been brought under section 217, an appeal against the 
decision of the Magistrates Court on that appeal may be brought to the Crown Court 
by the appellant or by the local planning authority who served the notice in question 
under section 215.

Page 78



EXAMPLE: WARNING OF DIRECT ACTION BY LPA AFTER S215 NOTICE HAS 
BEEN ISSUED

IMPORTANT: THIS COMMUNICATION AFFECTS YOUR PROPERTY

Dear Sir

RE: TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990: SECTION 215: 
ENFORCEMENT NOTICE SERVED REGARDING THE POOR CONDITION OF 
LAND AT …

You are advised to read this letter very carefully and contact the Council immediately at the 
address or phone numbers given above if you have any queries.

On [specify date] you were served with a formal notice under Section 215 of the  
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requiring you to take steps to remedy the 
condition of land at the above mentioned site. That Notice should have been 
complied with by [specify date]. It has not been.

The purpose of this letter is to inform you that the Council now intends to carry 
out the steps required in accordance with Section 219 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. Contractors appointed by the Council will start those works 
on [specify date]. Upon completion of those works, the Council will actively recoup 
its costs from you by placing a charge on your property.

Failure to comply with a Section 215 Notice is an offence under Section 216 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Accordingly, I must advise you that the 
Council now intends to pursue a prosecution with immediate effect. Because an 
offence has been committed I must advise you that you should contact the Council 
about this matter and you are hereby cautioned that anything you do say can be 
given in evidence. It may also harm your defence if you do not mention something 
which you later rely on in court.

Page 79



EXAMPLE: WARNING OF PROSECUTION BY LPA AFTER S215 
NOTICE HAS BEEN ISSUED

IMPORTANT THIS COMMUNICATION AFFECTS YOUR PROPERTY

Dear Sir

RE: TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990: SECTION 216: 
OFFENCE OF FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH NOTICE SERVED 
UNDER SECTION 215: EXTERNAL CONDITION OF …

The Council has received no correspondence or undertakings from you in 
respect of the above mentioned premises despite its letter and the 
enforcement notices served upon you dated [specify dates] under Section 
215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (copies attached for 
information). The time period for compliance with the notices expired on 
[specify date]. Failure to comply with it is an offence. In the absence of 
the required works having been carried out, I have to advise you that the 
Council is left with no alternative but to commence legal proceedings with 
immediate effect. Clearly, the Council would wish to avoid such a course 
and if the required works now start and are brought to a swift and 
satisfactory conclusion then the situation will be reviewed. In the 
meantime, because an offence has been committed I must advise you 
that you should contact the Council about this matter and you are hereby 
cautioned that anything you do say can be given in evidence. It may 
also harm your defence if you do not mention something which you later 
rely on in court.

Page 80



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Strategic Environment Committee

Date: 23 November 2021

Reporting officer: Wendy Lane - Assistant Director (Planning) 
Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Strategic Environment Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Two 2021-22 (July to September 2021). 

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 81 Agenda Item 8



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions.  

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Strategic Environment 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Two 2021-22, covering the period July to September 
2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

2.4 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Background papers

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 82

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The Plan ensures the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 83

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 84



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

S T R A T E G I C  E N V I R O N M E N T
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q 2  :  2  0  2  1  -  2  2

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 85



P I  14 Total number of net additional homes added to the council tax valuation list

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 21 24 53 14

2020-21 45 71 17 69

2021-22 54 117

2022-23

P I  15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 64

2020-21 135

2021-22

2022-23

#1 PEOPLE 

Affordable Housing update 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
1. Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high

quality market and affordable housing.

Additional homes update

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and attractive borough their home.

Annual indicator

In July, Planning Committee permitted the variation of condition 2 attached to Planning Consent 
reference number 20190833 Garage Block and part of Amenity Space adjacent to Constable Road 
and Rembrandt Drive, to move of the siting of the detached bungalow 1.50m to the east. 

The public speaker advised that the need to move the position of the approved bungalow 1.50m 
(known as site A) to the east wasn’t picked until the successful tenderer noticed the issue while 
they started to look at the practicalities of building the house.

During Quarter 2, we saw 74 affordable homes completing across several sites.

The largest number of completions this quarter took place at Bridge Close where WKHA took 
handover of 26 homes. 

GBC took handover over of Admiral Beatty House 24 units all for Affordable Rent 

A further 15 homes for Shared Ownership were completed at Cable Wharf by TCH, as well as a 
further 9 for Shared Ownership on Phase 3 at Springhead by Moat.

A breakdown of affordable homes delivered during Quarter 2 in terms of type and size is detailed 
below:

Affordable Rent
12 x 1 bed flat
12  x 2 bed flat 
4 x 2 bed house
2 x 3 bed house

Shared Ownership
4  x 1 bed flat
11 x 2 bed flat
13 x 2 bed house
16  x  3 bed house

0

50

100

150

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

50

100

150

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 86



P I  28 % rate of vacant town centre retail properties

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 8.9% 8.7% 8.7% 9.0%

2020-21 11.2% 11.1% 12.3% 12.0%

2021-22 12.5% 12.5%

2022-23

P I  29 Average weekly Town Centre footfall

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 117,111 115,228 106,208 94,276

2020-21 40,386 91,077 72,701 47,360

2021-22 81,812 83,246

2022-23

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.
P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy: deliver a programme of strategic 
regeneration schemes, supported by an effective Town Centre team. 
Town centre vacancies held steady during this quarter at 12.5%, remaining below the national 
vacancy rate of 14.5%. Footfall also recorded a slight increase on the previous quarter, but 
remains at around 70-80% of pre-pandemic footfall levels.

The hybrid planning application for Albion Waterside Canal Basin Gravesend (20210270) was 
taken to Planning Committee in July.  The proposed development includes up to 1,500 homes and 
up to 4,500sqm (GIA) of commercial floorspace. It was resolved that the application be grant 
conditional permission subject to:
· Referral to the Secretary of State as a departure from the adopted Development Plan;
· Finalisation of planning conditions and informatives, a draft list of which are included with the 
main report; and any additional conditions in the supplementary reports; 
· Completion of a legal agreement under s106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to 
maximise the delivery of affordable housing and to deliver mitigation needed to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms.

Following a delay with the applicant signing the s106, the planning permission for the Former 
Poundworld 1-2 Kind Street was issued in July 2021.

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 87



P I  30 Total rateable value of all commercial properties    

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 £64,341,435 £64,368,585 £64,420,185 £64,751,422

2020-21 £64,801,072 £64,759,342 £64,636,262 £65,463,462

2021-22 £64,914,937 £65,000,977

2022-23

P I  31 Total number of vacant commercial properties 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 N/A 247 240 237

2020-21 217 207 194 186

2021-22 193 207

2022-23

By the end of July, 100% of the Council’s £3,088,725 Additional Restrictions Support Grant 
allocation had been distributed to local businesses.  This unlocked a ‘top-up’ of £692,120 which 
will enable the remainder of the Council’s economic stimulus package to be funded, including 
grants to local businesses.

The Retail Group were appointed to prepare a Town Centre Recovery Plan to be funded from 
Reopening High Streets Safely/Welcome Back Funding.  This has been completed and has been 
reviewed to idetnify priorities and next steps in respect of resourcing.

Development of 6 no. new industrial, warehouse and trade counter units at Coldharbour Road is 
nearing completion.  The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation are undertaking steps to confirm a 
preferred development scheme for between 30,000 and 45,000 sq.ft of employment floorspace for 
a range of occupiers at Northfleet Embankment East.  Additional commmercial space is planned 
at Clifton Slipways, within St George’s Phase 2, Albion Waterside and at North East Gravesend.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Raise Gravesham’s economic profile: develop business and transport infrastructure and 
improve local land usage through a diversified commercial premises portfolio.

#2 PLACE 

£64,000,000

£64,500,000

£65,000,000

£65,500,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0

100

200

300

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 88



P I  32 % net gain in active businesses                                          (refers to previous year)  

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 0.3%

2020-21 4.3%

2021-22

2022-23

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Promote a borough ‘open for business’: with a focus on retaining existing businesses and 
encouraging new start-ups, increase the level and range of business investment to drive economic 
growth. 

Annual indicator

#2 PLACE 

London Resort
During this quarter, the Examining Authority has made a number of procedural decisions and 
accepted a number of additional Submissions from the Applicant and Interested Parties, which 
have been added to the examination library. 

In mid-September the Examining Authority wrote to London Resort Company Holdings has 
decided that it is still not in position to finalise the date(s) of the Preliminary Meeting. It also asked 
the applicant to provide a detailed explanation, by 27 October 2021, of whether all baseline 
information and all assessments in the Environmental Statement will be sufficiently current to form 
the basis of an Examination that would start no earlier than April 2022. 

The Examining Authority did not consider that the Applicant’s response, dated 1 September 2021, 
to a previous similar question was sufficient.

On 29 September, Savills on behalf of the Applicant, submitted their sixth Progress report.

0%

2%

4%

6%

2019-20 2020-21

P
age 89



P I  33 % rate of resident unemployment 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 3.1% 3.3% 3.4% 3.5%

2020-21 7.2% 7.5% 7.3% 7.6%

2021-22 6.6% 5.8%

2022-23

P I  34 % rate of youth unemployment

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.2% 5.5% 5.6% 5.8%

2020-21 12.1% 12.8% 12.4% 13.2%

2021-22 11.6% 9.2%

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

#2 PLACE 

4. Improve economic conditions: alongside key partner agencies, develop a package of 
measures that support local enterprises and deliver a workforce with the skills needed by modern 
business. 

There has been a further drop in the numbers of people unemployed (3,770 people) in the 
Borough, including young people unemployed (695 people).  We currently do not have access to 
vacancy data at a district level, but nationally vacancies hit a record high this quarter.  Growth was 
seen across all sectors, with the highest rates in transport and storage, construction, and 
wholesale & retail.

The council made a commitment to provide 34 work placements for young people under the 
Kickstart Scheme.  These placements last for a period of six months. 17 placements, primarily 
within the Council's Operational Services and Housing Services Directorate, with interviews due to 
be held for a further 5 positions.  Wrap around employment support is provided via North Kent 
College.  The council's employability support officer is progressing the scheme and matching 
suitable candidates with placements within the council.  Nationally, the Government announced 
that the Kickstart Scheme has been extended to March 2022.

0%

3%

6%

9%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 90



P I  35 % of ‘Major’ planning applications processed on time 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 75.0% 100% 100% 83.3%

2020-21 100% 100% 100% 100%

2021-22 50.0% 100%

2022-23

P I   36 % of ‘Non-Major’ planning applications processed on time

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 61.4% 77.0% 77.0% 85.8%

2020-21 94.5% 100% 96.6% 95.8%

2021-22 97.6% 97.9%

2022-23

In support of the outturns for PI 36 and PI 37, a breakdown of the number of planning applications 
decided in Q2 can be sourced in the table below;

In additon, an overview of Biodiversity Net Gain Metric 3.0S was given at Strategic Environment 
Cabinet Committee on 27 September 2021. 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

5. Positively promote sustainable development: deliver a pro-active development management 
service, underpinned by a sound Local Plan that protects and enhances our historic natural and 
built environment. 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

#2 PLACE 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Economic Development Strategy
	Appendix 2 - Consultation Activity
	Appendix 3 - Draft Economic Growth Strategy for Gravesham 2019-23 No Intro

	7 Draft Planning Enforcement Strategy
	Appendix 2 Draft Planning Enforcement Strategy SECC

	8 Corporate Performance Report Q2
	Strategic Environment - Q2 2021-22 (Appendix 2)
	Q2 2021-22
	Strategic Environment Portfolio - Q1 2021-22.pdf
	Q1 2021-22
	Strategic Environment Portfolio (DRAFT) - Q1 2021-22.pdf
	Q1 2021-22







